
Shropshire Council
Legal and Democratic Services
Shirehall
Abbey Foregate
Shrewsbury
SY2 6ND

Date:   Tuesday, 11 September 2018

Committee: 
People Overview Committee

Date: Wednesday, 19 September 2018
Time: 10.00 am
Venue: Shrewsbury/Oswestry Room, Shirehall, Abbey Foregate, Shrewsbury, 
Shropshire, SY2 6ND

You are requested to attend the above meeting. 
The Agenda is attached

Claire Porter
Head of Legal and Democratic Services (Monitoring Officer)

Members of the Committee

Peggy Mullock (Chair)
Kevin Turley (Vice-Chair)
Clare Aspinall
Hannah Fraser
Christian Lea

Matt Lee
Elliott Lynch
Cecilia Motley
Kevin Pardy
John Price

Co-opted Members (Voting):

Carol Morgan Diocese of Shrewsbury (RC)
Sian Lines Diocese of Hereford (CE)
Vacancy Parent Governor – Secondary Schools
Vacancy Parent Governor – Primary & Special Schools

Co-opted Members (Non-Voting):
Mark Hignett Voluntary and Community Sector 

Assembly



Substitute Members:
Roy Aldcroft
Dean Carroll
Julian Dean
Rob Gittins
Roger Hughes

Jane MacKenzie
David Vasmer
Claire Wild
Paul Wynn

Your Committee Officer is: 

Tim Ward  Committee Officer
Tel:  01743 257713
Email:  tim.ward@shropshire.gov.uk



AGENDA
1 Apologies and Substitutions 

To receive apologies for absence from Members of the Committee

2 Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

Members are reminded they must not participate in the discussion or vote on 
any matter in which they have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest and should leave 
the room prior to the commencement of the debate.

3 Minutes (Pages 1 - 6)

The minutes of the last meeting held on 18 July 2018 are attached for 
confirmation.

4 Public Question Time 

To receive any public questions or petitions from the public, notice of which has 
been given in accordance with Procedure Rule 14.  The deadline for this 
meeting is 10.00am on 18 September 2018

5 Members' Question Time 

To receive any questions of which Members of the Council have given notice.

Deadline for notification: 10.00am on 18 September 2018

6 Youth Offending Service (Pages 7 - 50)

This paper introduces the West Mercia Youth Justice Partnership’s youth justice 
plan. It also outlines the findings of the recent pilot inspection of the partnership 
by HM Inspectorate of Probation (HMIP) and the partnership’s consequent 
action plan.

7 Corporate Parenting 

To receive a verbal update from the Portfolio Holder for Children and Young 
People



8 Work Programme (Pages 51 - 72)

This paper presents Overview and Scrutiny’s proposed work programme for the 
year ahead.

9 Date of Next Meeting 

Members are reminded that the next meeting of the People Overview 
Committee will be held on Wednesday 21 November 2018 at 10.00am



PEOPLE OVERVIEW COMMITTEE

Minutes of the meeting held on 18 July 2018
10.00  - 11.17 am in the Shrewsbury/Oswestry Room, Shirehall, Abbey Foregate, 
Shrewsbury, Shropshire, SY2 6ND

Responsible Officer:    Linda Jeavons
Email:  linda.jeavons@shropshire.gov.uk      Tel:  01743 257716

Present 
Shropshire Councillors
Councillor Peggy Mullock (Chairman)
Councillors Kevin Turley (Vice-Chair), Hannah Fraser, Christian Lea, Elliott Lynch, 
Cecilia Motley, Kevin Pardy and John Price

Co-Opted Members (Voting)
Sian Lines

5 Apologies and Substitutions 

5.1 An apology for absence was received from Carol Morgan (Shrewsbury Diocese).

5.2 There were no substitutions

6 Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

6.1 Members were reminded that they must not participate in the discussion or vote on 
any matter in which they have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest and should leave 
the room prior to the commencement of the debate.

6.2 There were no declarations made.

7 Minutes 

7.1 RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the meetings of the People Overview Committee held on 9 May 
2018 and 17 May 2018 be approved as a true record and signed by the Chairman.

8 Public Question Time 

8.1 There were no questions from members of the public.

9 Members' Question Time 

9.1 There were no questions from Members.



Minutes of the People Overview Committee held on 18 July 2018

Contact: Tim Ward on 01743 257713 2

10 Supported Housing for Young People 

10.1 Members received the report of the Housing Assistance Manager which provided 
an overview of current housing options for young people in Shropshire and 
specifically those who were Looked After or Care Leavers.

10.2 In response to questions from Members, the Housing Assistance Manager 
responded as follows:

 At this point in time, Shropshire Council does not “take-on” private properties 
but it does inspect them to make sure they are up to an appropriate 
standard;

 Housing Services do consult with the Planning Department and appropriate 
data is sought and used in an effort to assess and bring forward the 
appropriate number of properties.  The Planning Department are aware of 
the need for one-bedroomed properties;

 All young persons in need would be accommodated.  Shropshire Council 
has a responsibility and duty to accommodate any child in need;

 It is important to note that not all providers are local providers, but some are 
national providers who have made the decision to provide elsewhere.  The 
local providers have continued to be and remain local providers.  Shropshire 
Housing Association had no intention of leaving the market and was 
planning to build more.  It is not just about providing supported 
accommodation it is about providing the right accommodation, whether this 
be private rented or shared properties within social housing.  The Housing 
Support Model is an old model and although remains suitable for some 
people it is not suitable for all.  Some of our young people when they reach 
18 years of age are more than capable of living independently.  We need to 
balance provision; and

 Notwithstanding that the majority of young people would like to remain in 
Shrewsbury, and this may be because they have either grown-up in the town 
or because it is the major market town in the County, it is important that 
provision and options of where to live are made available across the County. 

10.3 The Deputy Portfolio Holder – Housing explained that as part of the Local Plan 
Review, the type and affordability of housing provision would be considered, 
although this was not yet at a stage where exact figures could be quoted.  It was 
important to note that schemes should remain viable whilst still delivering the 
maximum affordable and social housing that could be realistically obtained from 
any developments.  There were also plans to develop a Housing Charter and this 
would include a review of the private rented housing provision and maybe the 
introduction of a landlords accreditation scheme.  Both the Deputy Portfolio Holder 
– Housing and the Portfolio Holder for Children and Young People thanked the 
Housing Assistance Manager and her team for the report and welcomed the close-
working between both Housing Services and Children’s Services.  

10.4 The Director of Children’s Services explained that one of the outcomes of the work 
undertaken over the past few years was the purchase and refurbishment of New 



Minutes of the People Overview Committee held on 18 July 2018

Contact: Tim Ward on 01743 257713 3

Century Court; this had meant the retention of 12 valuable spaces.  She stressed 
the importance of the need to ensure adequate and correct provision in the future.

10.5 RESOLVED: That the following actions and improvements to improve the options 
available and joint working needed to improve a young person’s ability to live 
independently as well as increase suitable provision be agreed:

 Employment of a Children’s and Young Person Co-ordinator (budget agreed 
and in progress); 

 Employment of a Private Rented Sector Officer (budget agreed and in 
progress);

 Implementation of independent living skills for all those leaving care (in 
progress); 

 Better planned move-on for all those leaving care (in progress); 
 Agreement for Children’s Services to act as guarantor for all Looked After 

Children aged 17 who are allocated a property in social housing stock up 
until their 18th birthday (agreed at corporate parenting panel on 21st June 
2018); 

 Secure supported housing projects within the County (ongoing); 
 Improve access to semi-independent housing options for those leaving care 

(ongoing); 
 Improve and increase the use of Discretionary Housing Payment, Enhanced 

Housing Management and Housing Benefit funding (ongoing); 
 Identify corporate funding to provide better housing options for those leaving 

care (ongoing); and
 Monitor all Looked After Children’s move-on options at age 18 (ongoing).

11 Placements for Looked After Children Task and Finish Group 

11.1 Members received the report of the Overview and Scrutiny Officer which provided 
an overview of the work carried out by Shropshire Council’s Placements for Looked 
After Children Task and Finish Group.  The Group had looked into the challenges 
the Council faced in providing residential care for its Looked After Children.  The 
report had responded to proposals from Shropshire Council to develop its 
residential care provision for its Looked After Children.

11.2 The Head of Safeguarding, Children’s Services was present and introduced the 
report.  Councillors Kevin Turley and Kevin Pardy, both members of the Placements 
for Looked After Children Task and Finish Group, provided an overview of the work 
of the Task and Finish Group and outlined their personal insight and findings of the 
group.  

11.3 In response to questions from Members, the Head of Safeguarding, Children’s 
Services responded as follows:

 A Member had suggested that if every local authority established their own 
residential units would this then mean that there would be difficulties in 
identifying suitable placements for our most vulnerable children in the private 
sector.   The Head of Safeguarding noted that local authorities had already 



Minutes of the People Overview Committee held on 18 July 2018

Contact: Tim Ward on 01743 257713 4

established residential beds and this had had no impact on the open market.  
The majority of authorities were currently looking at ways to meet the needs 
of the most vulnerable children and doing something similar and setting up 1 
to 4 bedroomed units.  It is unlikely that we will find ourselves in a situation 
whereby we are going to have our own residential units and not need the 
private sector as we do now.  The demand is there.  Shropshire is not the 
only authority that has seen a growing number of children – every local 
authority has seen an increase.  Additional beds will not have an impact.   
Private providers are struggling to meet the needs of our vulnerable children 
and they don’t always have the appropriate skills. Private providers are 
under a lot of pressure because of the Ofsted rating and if they are not good 
or outstanding then a number of local authorities will not use them.  
Therefore, they do not want to care for complex young people in case it 
jeopardises their Ofsted judgement;

 We are doing more but in a different way.  Alongside this proposal is 
additional work being undertaken across our fostering services.  There has 
been an increase in the numbers of looked after children and an increasing 
number of children under 5 coming in to local authority care as a result of the 
risk of significant harm. There is support and an agreement from Shropshire 
Council to increase our capacity and recruit more foster carers and not only 
to recruit more foster carers for younger children but also to recruit more 
specialised foster carers for older children.  This would mean that complex 
children who in the appropriate foster placement could live in a family 
environment.   

11.4 The Director of Children’s Services thanked Councillors for their participation and 
involvement in this process.  She reiterated that it was important for elected 
Members to understand the needs of our children and understand the work of the 
service.  She thanked the Placement Team who work tirelessly around the clock in 
extremely difficult and highly pressured circumstances and who make a huge 
impact on some of our most vulnerable children.

11.5 RESOLVED: 

That the recommendations put forward by the Placements for Looked After Children 
Task and Finish Group, as set out below, be agreed:

Shropshire Council to:
 

 develop plans to set-up:
 Two new two-bedroom specialist care residential homes;
 A three-bedroom step-down care residential home;
 Convert Chelmaren’s Statement of Purpose to a children’s home for 

long-term children;
 Convert office space at Chelmaren to provide for semi-independent 

accommodation for Shropshire Council’s Looked After Children who 
will soon be leaving care; 

 Develop a pop-up unit; and



Minutes of the People Overview Committee held on 18 July 2018

Contact: Tim Ward on 01743 257713 5

 Delay the building of any step-down residential home, until the two specialist 
care residential homes are established and working successfully.

12 Work programme 

In considering the Work Programme, Members suggested the following additions:

 Youth Offending Services (19 September 2018)

To understand the reasoning behind why such a high number of children in 
care go on to require the help of the Youth Offending Service.  Is there 
anything we can do to reduce the high numbers?  The Scrutiny Officer 
suggested that this might be better considered in March 2019, a year or more 
after the policy had first been introduced. 

 Education Attainment (21 Nov 2018)  

Given the budget cuts, has this had any impact on education attainment?  Has 
this impacted on teacher training in any way?  

To include mention of CPD and Apprenticeships and how and if they are 
working.

 Given the increased visible drug activity in towns and parks consider what is 
happening with drugs in our schools and colleges and the impact of this on 
young people

RESOLVED: That, subject to the above suggestions, the Work Programme be 
noted.

13 Date of next Meeting 

13.1 Members were reminded that the next meeting of the People Overview Committee 
would be held on Wednesday, 19 September 2018 at 10.00am.

Signed (Chairman)

Date: 





People Overview 
Committee

West Mercia Youth Justice Partnership

Responsible officer
Karen Bradshaw, Director of Children’s Services
karen.bradshaw@shropshire.gov.uk
01743 254201

1.0 Summary

1.1 This paper introduces the West Mercia Youth Justice Partnership’s youth justice 
plan. It also outlines the findings of the recent pilot inspection of the partnership by 
HM Inspectorate of Probation (HMIP) and the partnership’s consequent action plan.

2.0 Recommendations

2.1 Overview and scrutiny members to scrutinise the inspection action plan and youth 
justice plan, in order to satisfy themselves that both plans address the 
recommendations of HMIP and are likely to lead to meaningful improvement to the 
service.

3.0 Background 

3.1 West Mercia Youth Justice Partnership provides youth justice services across 
Herefordshire, Worcestershire, Shropshire and Telford and Wrekin on behalf of the 
four local authorities for these areas. West Mercia’s police and crime commissioner 
hosts the service in Worcester, with front-line teams based in each of the four local 
authority areas. The service is a partnership between the four local authorities, the 
National Probation Service, West Mercia Police, the NHS and the Office of the West 
Mercia Police and Crime Commissioner.

3.2 The service is accountable to the service management board, comprised of senior 
officers from each partner agency. The board is chaired by Shropshire Council’s 
director of children’s services. 

3.3 The partnership has undergone significant change during the previous 18 months. 
As well as significant change in the leadership team, it has restructured the services 
changed its information systems, and updated its assessment framework. 

3.4 A recent pilot inspection by HM Inspectorate of Probation found the service to 
require improvement. Of the twelve standards in the inspection, seven were found 

mailto:karen.bradshaw@shropshire.gov.uk


to be good, four to require improvement and one to be inadequate. The service 
received ‘good’ ratings for the quality of practice standards in assessment, 
implementation and delivery of interventions and for joint working on out of court 
disposals

3.5 The inspectorate made five recommendations to the service:

 Develop a clear vision for the service, outlining its underpinning values.
 Reconfigure its decision-making process on out of court disposals to make 

sure that children and young people are considered for the full range of 
disposals available.

 Identify ways that information-sharing between YOT practitioners and local 
authority children’s services departments can be improved through the use of 
technology underpinned by an effective information-sharing agreement.

 Develop the intervention planning skills of the workforce to make sure the 
plans drawn up between children and young people and their supervisors to 
implement court orders are comprehensive and based on the assessment.

 Make sure that practitioners understand child and adolescent mental services 
thresholds and are able to help those children and young people who do not 
meet the criteria for mental health services

3.6 Following the inspection the service produced an inspection plan. This has 
subsequently been merged into a wider youth justice plan. The plan contains four 
priorities:

Priority 1: Our People
 Promote in-service progression and ensure that appraisals are used 

effectively
 Strengthen staff development programmes
 Improve staff morale, motivation and encourage engagement

Priority 2: Our Partnerships
 Improve multi-agency engagement at high risk and decision making meetings
 Ensuring young people’s mental health needs are met
 Review and improve policy and practice in relation to out of court disposal 

decision making thereby contributing to a reduction in the number of first time 
entrants

Priority 3: Our Performance, Quality and Practice
 Develop our quality assurance and performance framework in collaboration 

with our partners
 Ensure adequate interface with Children Services information systems
 Develop our practice and encourage innovation



Priority 4: Our Governance
 Communicate our vision and priorities to our staff, partners and stakeholders
 Develop Board Member links to WMYJS to support service development and 

improve engagement with staff and service users
 Anticipate and mitigate future risks to the long term delivery of our vision

3.7 The service’s youth justice plan is attached as appendix 1. 

List of Background Papers (This MUST be completed for all reports, but does not 
include items containing exempt or confidential information)
None

Cabinet Member (Portfolio Holder)

Nick Bardsley Portfolio Holder for Children and Young People

Local Member
All 

Appendices
West Mercia Youth Justice Service – Youth Justice Plan





 

 

WEST MERCIA YOUTH JUSTICE PARTNERSHIP 
 
 

  
 

YOUTH JUSTICE PLAN 
 

2018/19 
 

 
CO



 

WEST MERCIA YOUTH JUSTICE PLAN 2018/19 
 

2 

CONTENTS 
 
1.0   INTRODUCTION          3 
1.1   Approval of the Plan          4 
 
2.0   REVIEW OF 2017/18          5 
2.1   Changes in Service Delivery         5 
2.2   Review of Key Developments         5 
2.3   Thematic Inspections          7 
2.4   Pilot Inspection          7 
2.5   Views of Young People         8 
2.5   Performance           9 
 
3.0 YOUTH JUSTICE PLAN 2018/19 

SERVICE PRIORITIES AND RISKS TO FUTURE DELIVERY     12 
   AGAINST NATIONAL OUTCOME MEASURES   
3.1   Priorities 2018/19 to 2019/29         12 
3.2   Safeguarding           13    
3.3   Risks to the Future Delivery against the National Outcome Measures   13 
3.4   Delivery Plan           15 
 
APPENDICES:        
                 
Appendix 1  Resources           18 
Appendix 2  Staffing and Structure          20 
Appendix 3  Governance and Partnerships        21 
Appendix 4  Area Profile – Herefordshire         24 
Appendix 5  Area Profile – Shropshire         28 
Appendix 6  Area Profile – Telford and Wrekin        32 
Appendix 7  Area Profile – Worcestershire         36 
 
 



 

WEST MERCIA YOUTH JUSTICE PLAN 2018/19 
 

3 

1.0 INTRODUCTION 
 
Introduction from Karen Bradshaw, Chair of West Mercia Youth Justice Service Management Board and Director of 
Children Services, Shropshire Council 
 

West Mercia Youth Justice Service (WMYJS) is partnership between the Local Authorities, National Probation 
Service, West Mercia Police, NHS organisations across West Mercia and the Office for the West Mercia Police and 
Crime Commissioner. The service is accountable to the WMYJS Management Board, comprised of senior officers 
from each partner agency. The service is hosted, on behalf of the Local Authorities and the partnership by the Office 
of the West Mercia Police and Crime Commissioner (OPCC).  
 

During 2017/18 the service, whilst still embedding the changes to the information system, assessment framework and service re-
structure, also experienced churn within the leadership team, so it was pleasing to see, in the pilot inspection undertaken at the end 
of the year, that our assessments were rated as good and despite the changes within the management team throughout the year 
staff reported that they found managers supportive in carrying our their role. More information on the pilot inspection is provided in 
section 2.4, and there is an agreed inspection improvement plan, the actions from which have been incorporated in the delivery 
plan in section 3.4 of this plan. 
 
There is a mixed picture in respect to the service’s performance against the national outcome indicators. Performance in relation to 
the rate of young people receiving a custodial sentence has improved between 2016/17 and 2017/18 from 0.27 to 0.11 custodial 
sentences per 1,000 youth population, and this rate is significantly below the national rate of 0.38. The first time entrant (FTE) rate 
for 2017 is at 354, which is above the national rate of 295, however the performance is an improvement on the previous year when 
it was 408. The inspection team judged that the higher than might be expected rate of FTEs in West Mercia is due in large part to 
the out of disposal system in West Mercia and one of our key actions for 2018/19 is to revise that system, further commentary on 
this is provided in section 2.6. The proportion of young people re-offending (July 15 to June 16 cohort) is 33.9% which is 
significantly lower the national rate at 41.9%, and an improvement on the previous year when it was at 36.9%. 
  
 
 



 

WEST MERCIA YOUTH JUSTICE PLAN 2018/19 
 

4 

The priorities for 2018/19 and 2019/20 are a result of joint management board and management team workshops, informed by a 
range of information including a review of the Youth Justice Plan 2017/18 and the unpublished pilot inspection report, and are 
based on the four themes of; 
 
Our People 
Our Partnerships 
Our Performance, Quality and Practice; and 
Our Governance 
 
The service and management board do not work in isolation in reducing offending by children and young people and improving the 
outcomes for children and young people who have entered or at risk of entering the youth justice system. The board are committed 
to promoting better joint work between the service and other agencies at a local level. A particular focus for the year is better 
sharing of information between the children social care services of the Local Authorities and the service and securing better 
engagement of partner agencies in the planning for high risk offenders. 
 
 
 
1.1  Approval of the Plan 
 
This plan was approved at the West Mercia Youth Justice Service Management Board held on 12th July 2018 
 
Signed:   Date: 12th July 2018 
 
 
 
Karen Bradshaw 
Chair – West Mercia Youth Justice Service Management Board 
 
 
 



 

WEST MERCIA YOUTH JUSTICE PLAN 2018/19 
 

5 

2.0 Review of 17/18 
 
2.1 Changes to Service Delivery Arrangements 
 
When the service was re-structured in November 2016 the Management Board agreed to keep the structure under review. The 
experience throughout 2017/18 demonstrated that the service has limited capacity within the management team.  The team 
managers and senior practitioners were primarily engaged, during 2017/18, in building the new teams and embedding and 
improving the quality of AssetPlus, and capacity in the management team to progress other service development tasks and Youth 
Justice Plan actions was limited. As a result the Management Board have agreed to the establishment of an additional 2.0 fte 
management and administrative posts and adopted a two year financial plan until March 2020 in order to support these.  
  
2.2 Review of Key Developments  
 

The Youth Justice Service Management Board agreed seven main priorities for 17/18. The following developments were achieved 
during the year:- 
 

 Priority: Reducing First Time Entrants to the Youth Justice System 
 

 Completed the bureau evaluation 

 Developed a screening tool to be used in a revised out of court disposal system 

 Scoped a FTE analysis 
 
 Priority: Reduce custody and young people entering the adult criminal justice system 
 

 Revised the Management of Risk Policy 

 At a local team level work has commenced to map the pathways into other services 

 Commenced research on prevalence of adverse childhood experiences in young people in justice system  
  
  



 

WEST MERCIA YOUTH JUSTICE PLAN 2018/19 
 

6 

Priority: WMYJS Interventions are of a consistently good quality  
 

 Revised the assessment and planning quality assurance tool 

 Partnered with Worcester University to recruit students as learning mentors for young offenders 

 Reviewed reparation activities and implemented a reparation development plan 

 Developed a new gate keeping tool for reports 
 
Priority: We have systems in place to understand young people’s journey through our services. 
 

 Reviewed youth justice substance misuse provision and implemented recording on the NDTMS 

 Undertook a detailed analysis of the mental health needs of young people in the justice system 

 The Management Board reviewed actions being taken to secure appropriate education placements for young people  

 In partnership with the national Youth Justice SEND project commenced a SEND self assessment 
 
Priority: The voice of service users directly impacts on service delivery 
 

 Commissioning ViewPoint and work to develop service user feedback questionnaires 
 
Priority: Team morale is good, staff feel enabled and have the tools required to do their job effectively 
 

 Development of an in-service progression pathway to enable unqualified staff to progress to management 

 Delivery of assessment and planning training 

 The arrangements for covering out of hour courts have been reviewed and revised 

 Development of a service domestic abuse policy and guidance 
 
Priority: The Management Board and operational staff are working together with clear collective responsibility for improving 
outcomes for young people 
  

 Key management board member visits to area teams 



 

WEST MERCIA YOUTH JUSTICE PLAN 2018/19 
 

7 

2.3 Thematic Inspections 
 
The WMYJS Management Board considered the findings of the thematic inspection report “The Work of Youth Offending Teams to 
Protect the Public” and approved an action plan addressing the main recommendations. 
 
2.4 Pilot Joint Inspection 
 

WMYJS was subject to an unpublished pilot joint inspection in late March/early April 2018. The Inspectorate found: 

 “There are many strengths of the youth justice practice in West Mercia. Staff carry out assessments of children and young people 
and implement and review court orders well. Their planning is not as strong, although managers have taken recent action to 
improve the planning skills of their workforce. Staff have a strong focus on the safety and well-being of young people and place a 
high priority on continuity of the relationship between professional practitioner and the child or young person. That relationship is 
the basis for achieving positive change for children and young people who have offended. Work to protect victims and apply 
restorative justice principles is less well developed….. 

There is a well-supported management board; however, there were areas where the board could have done more to drive the 
service. They had not developed an effective response to the relatively high number of first-time entrants, and information-sharing 
between the Youth Offending Team and children’s services was short of current best practice. Additionally, West Mercia does not 
have a clearly stated vision for its service.” 

Overall the service was judged to be requiring improvement, however across the 12 main standards; there was one inadequate, 
four that required improvement and seven good. The seven good ratings were for quality of practice standards in assessment, 
implementation and delivery of interventions and for joint working on out of court disposals. The inspectorate made five main 
recommendations: 
 

1. Develop a clear vision for the service, outlining its underpinning values. 
2. Reconfigure its decision-making process on out of court disposals to make sure that children and young people are 

considered for the full range of disposals available. 
3. Identify ways that information-sharing between YOT practitioners and local authority children’s services departments can be 

improved through the use of technology underpinned by an effective information-sharing agreement. 



 

WEST MERCIA YOUTH JUSTICE PLAN 2018/19 
 

8 

4. Develop the intervention planning skills of the workforce to make sure the plans drawn up between children and young 
people and their supervisors to implement court orders are comprehensive and based on the assessment. 

5. Make sure that practitioners understand child and adolescent mental services thresholds and are able to help those children 
and young people who do not meet the criteria for mental health services 

 
The findings of the inspection have informed the planning process and priorities for 2018/19 and there is an inspection 
improvement plan in place. The actions from the inspection improvement plan are included in the delivery plan in section 3.4. 
 
2.5 Views of Young People 
 
Previous plans have included information taken from the annual HMI Probation survey of young people on court orders held by 
West Mercia Youth Justice Service. The last survey was conducted in the last quarter of 2016/17 and was reported on in the Youth 
Justice Plan 2017/18. The service has commissioned ViewPoint, an internet based service user feedback tool, in order to collect 
service user feedback for the future. The service has been working with ViewPoint in the latter part of 2017/18 to develop the 
specific questionnaires, and implementation will be in 2018/19.  
 
Young people, however, complete a self-assessment as part of the YJS assessment, review and closure process. From an analysis 
of self assessments completed in 2017 young people identified the following areas that YJS helped most with in relation to stopping 
offending:  
 

 Understanding the risks of offending and the consequences for themselves and others 

 Managing anger and controlling temper 

 Finding an appropriate job/ETE placement 

 Managing problems and problem solving 

 Reducing drug use 

 Addressing mental health issues and reducing stress 

In relation to what the young person liked about the YJS a number identified the importance of the relationship with their worker 
who had been a significant source of support. 



 

WEST MERCIA YOUTH JUSTICE PLAN 2018/19 
 

9 

2.6 Performance 
 
Youth Justice Partnerships are subject to three national outcome indicators; 
 

 First Time Entrants (FTE) to the Youth Justice System 

 Use of Custody 

 Re-Offending 
 

(i) First Time Entrants to the Youth Justice System (FTE) 
 

The first time entrant measure is expressed as the number of first time 
entrants per 100,000 of 10 to 17 year old population. First time entrants are 
those young people receiving a first formal youth justice sanction (Youth 
Caution, Youth Conditional Caution or Conviction). A lower figure denotes 
good performance. 
 
The rate of FTEs across West Mercia for 2017 was 354, which is an 
improvement on the performance for the previous year when the FTE rate 
was 408. The rate in West Mercia is higher than the national rate of 295.     
 
The percentage reduction in the rate of FTEs in West Mercia over the 
period 2012 to 2017 has been 26%.  
 

Within West Mercia there are differing FTE rates between the four Local Authority areas, with the highest being 447 and the lowest 
308. WMYJS was subject to a pilot joint inspection at the end of 17/18, and the inspection team judged that the higher than might 
be expected rate of first time entrants in West Mercia is in large part due to the out of court decision joint decision making 
processes within West Mercia. Although the process meets statutory requirements, there is a cohort of young people currently 
receiving cautions, who could be appropriately diverted from the formal justice system through the use of an informal response to 
their behaviour, such as a community resolution. 

First Time Entrants per 100,000 Youth 

Population

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

550

600

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

West Mercia England 



 

WEST MERCIA YOUTH JUSTICE PLAN 2018/19 
 

10 

 
Informal disposals, used at the right stage in the system, are an effective and efficient method of dealing with the onset of criminal 
behaviour. In 2016 there were 723 community resolutions associated with 657 young people. Typically a young person will only 
receive a single community resolution but, as the figures highlight, a small number of young people will be subject to two or more 
resolutions. All young people subject to Community Resolutions in 2016 were followed up to ascertain the proportion who re-
offended within a year of the outcome. 
 
It was found that only 15.7% of young people subject to a Community Resolution committed a further offence in the 12 month follow 
up period. This is a lower rate of re-offending than that found for first time entrants and also typically found for young people subject 
to youth cautions. There was, for example, a re-offending rate of 29% for youth cautions (n=610) included in the 2014/15 cohort. 
 
(ii) Use of Custody 
 

The use of custody measure is expressed as the number of 
custodial sentences per 1,000 of the 10 to 17 year old 
population. West Mercia has, historically, had a low rate of 
custodial sentences. A lower figure denotes good performance. 
 

For 2017/18 the use of custody rate for West Mercia was 0.11 
against the rate for England of 0.38, West Mercia performance 
is, therefore, significantly better than the national performance. 
The West Mercia rate for 2017/18 has improved from 2016/17 
when it was 0.27. 
 
 
Over the six year period to 2012/13 to 2017/18 the rate has 
reduced from 0.26 to 0.11, a reduction of 58% which is better 
than the reduction nationally which was 41% over the same 
period. The actual decrease in the number of sentences 
between these two periods is from 41 in 12/13 to 12 in 17/18. 

Custodial Sentences per 1000 Youth 

Population

0

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.7

 12/13 13/14 14/15 15/16 16/17 17/18

Year

West Mercia England



 

WEST MERCIA YOUTH JUSTICE PLAN 2018/19 
 

11 

(iii) Re-Offending 
 

There are two re-offending measures, both measuring re-offending in the 
same cohort of offenders over a 12 month period following the youth justice 
sanction that placed the young person in the cohort. The first, the frequency 
measure, is the average number of re-offences per re-offender in the cohort. 
The second measure, the binary measure, is the percentage of the offenders 
in the cohort re-offending. The most recent data for the re-offending measure 
is for the year July 2015 to June 2016. This is the year where the cohort is 
identified, they are then followed for re-offending for a 12 month period, hence 
to June 2017. 
 
For the year July 15 to June 16 the frequency measure performance for West 
Mercia was 4.04, compared to national performance 3.83. The binary measure 
performance for the same period for West Mercia was 33.9% compared with 
national performance of 41.9%.   
 
A comparison over a five year period shows that this measure is volatile 
varying year on year in a range between 34% and 39%. The national rate also 
shows a year on year variation within the range of 40% and 43%. 
 
The cohort size is falling, from 1750 young people in the year ending June 
2011 cohort compared to 930 young people in the year ending June 2016. The 
number of re-offences has also decreased over the same period from 1886 to 
1273 a decrease of 33%.  
 

In 2017/18 and continuing into 18/19 the service is participating in research to identify the prevalence of adverse childhood 
experiences (ACEs) in young people in the youth justice system. There is a growing evidence base suggesting that young people 
who have experienced ACEs need to have those issues addressed before any work to prevent re-offending is likely to be effective. 
The research outcomes will be used to inform changes in practice in the future. 

Reoffending - Proportion of Cohort 

Reoffending after 12 Months

25.0

30.0

35.0

40.0

45.0

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

Year Cohort Identified

 P
er

ce
nt

ag
e

West Mercia England

Average Number of Reoffences per Reoffender

2.00

2.50

3.00

3.50

4.00

4.50

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

West Mercia England



 

WEST MERCIA YOUTH JUSTICE PLAN 2018/19 
 

12 

3. YOUTH JUSTICE PLAN 2018/19 
 SERVICE PRIORITIES AND RISKS TO FUTURE DELIVERY AGAINST THE NATIONAL OUTCOME MEASURES – 
 2018/20 
 
3.1 Priorities for 2018/19 to 2019/20 
 
Two joint Management Board and Leadership Team workshops have been held to identify the service priorities for 2018 to 2020. 
The priorities have been informed by the annual service performance assessment, a review of the youth justice plan for 2017/18 
and the findings and recommendations of the pilot inspection of the service. There is a delivery plan supporting the priorities and 
addressing the findings of the pilot inspection at section 3.4 of the plan. 
 
Priority 1: Our People 
 

 1.1 Promote in-service progression and ensure that appraisals are used effectively 
 1.2  Strengthen staff development programmes  
 1.3 Improve staff morale, motivation and encourage engagement 
 

Priority 2: Our Partnerships 
 

 2.1 Improve multi-agency engagement at high risk and decision making meetings 
 2.2 Ensuring young people’s mental health needs are met 
 2.3 Review and improve policy and practice in relation to out of court disposal decision making thereby   
  contributing to a reduction in the number of first time entrants 

 
Priority 3: Our Performance, Quality and Practice 
 

 3.1 Develop our quality assurance and performance framework in collaboration with our partners 
 3.2 Ensure adequate interface with Children Services information systems 
 3.3 Develop our practice and encourage innovation 

 



 

WEST MERCIA YOUTH JUSTICE PLAN 2018/19 
 

13 

Priority 4: Our Governance 
 

 4.1 Communicate our vision and priorities to our staff, partners and stakeholders  
 4.2 Develop Board Member links to WMYJS to support service development and improve engagement with staff 
  and service users  
 4.3 Anticipate and mitigate future risks to the long term delivery of our vision 

  
 

3.2 Safeguarding 
 
Safeguarding remains a key area of focus for the service. WMYJS has a key role in safeguarding young people, in terms of 
assessing and reducing the risk of harm to young people either from their own behaviour or the actions of others and reducing the 
risk of harm they may pose to others.   
 
During 2017/18 the service undertook critical learning reviews (CLRs) as part of the YJB safeguarding and public protection 
reviewing process (CSPPI). Learning from these reviews has informed service planning. WMYJS will continue to undertake CLRs, 
even though the CSPPI process was ended by the YJB in the latter part of 17/18. During 2017/18 the service revised its 
management of risk policy and procedures, however the pilot inspection identified that the involvement of other agencies in the 
process could be improved and work will be undertaken in 2018/19 to better secure the engagement of other agencies in high risk 
panel meetings. The service is taking part in research to identify the prevalence of adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) in young 
people who are in the justice system, the work will inform the implementation of trauma informed practice within the service.  The 
service has completed S11 compliance audits for each of the LSCBs and there are S11 action plans in place. 
 
3.3 Risks to the Future Delivery against the National Outcome Measures 
 

The current performance against the national outcome measures are contained in section 2.6 of this plan. As the section notes 
although the FTE rate is higher than the national rate, the most recent performance is an improvement on the previous year. The 
rate of custodial sentences remains very low, at 0.11 per 1,000 population. Re-offending performance is volatile and rises and falls 
within a range of 34% to 39%. It is intended to implement trauma informed interventions to assist in reducing re-offending of young 
people who have experienced adverse childhood experiences.   



 

WEST MERCIA YOUTH JUSTICE PLAN 2018/19 
 

14 

 
Outcome 
Measure 

Performance 
Indicator 

Risk Key Mitigating Actions Other Relevant 
Delivery Plan 
Actions 

First Time 
Entrants 

The number of first 
time entrants to the 
youth justice system 
per 100,000 youth 
population 

The current out of court disposal joint decision making process 
is the cause for the higher than might be expected rate of FTEs 
in West Mercia 

Develop and implement a new system of joint 
decision making  

2.3.2 
2.3.3 
2.3.4 

Custody The number of 
custodial sentences 
per 1,000 youth 
population 

Absence of a remand management strategy may lead to an 
increase in young people being remanded 

Development of a remand management strategy 3.3.4 

Re-
Offending 

(i) The average 
number of re-offences 
per re-offender 
 
(ii) The proportion of 
offenders (%) re-
offending within 12 
months  

Inconsistent and poor quality planning leading to factors for 
desistance not be adequately addressed  

Commissioning staff training in planning 2.1.1 
2.1.2 
3.1.2 

Poor quality assessments, plans and delivery against 
local/national standards 

Continued work on embedding AssetPlus. 
  

3.1.2 

Interventions are not focussed on the most significant factors or 
are not delivered with integrity 

Implementation of trauma informed interventions 3.3.4 
3.3.6 Review Aim2 programme work 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

WEST MERCIA YOUTH JUSTICE PLAN 2018/19 
 

15 

3.4 Delivery Plan for 2018 to 2020 
 
Ref Action Owner     Timescale 
1.0 Our People 

1.1 Promote in-service progression and ensure that appraisals are used effectively 

1.1.1 Appraisals to be completed in Q2 18/19 and then annually Supervisors Q2 18/19 

1.1.2 Annual report on outcome of appraisals HoS Q4 19/20 

1.1.3 Investigate use of apprenticeship levy to support in house progression DCSs Q3 18/19 

1.2 Strengthen staff development programmes 

1.2.1 Development of a revised Learning and Development Framework Train’g Lead Q4 18/19 

1.2.2 Training plan to address training needs identified in the inspection (including intervention planning and A+ refresher) Train’g Lead/ A+ 
Lead 

Q2 18/19 

1.2.3 Access to LA training: LA training link for WMYJS to be identified in each LA DCSs Q2 18/19 

1.2.4 Access to LA training: LA link and WMYJS Team Manager to agree training plan (LA training that includes YJS 
staff) 

TM/LA Link Q3 18/19 

1.2.5 Annual reporting on access to training for each LA area TM/LA Link Q2 19/20 

1.3 Improve staff morale, motivation and encourage engagement 

1.3.1 Conduct staff survey HoS Q3 18/19 

1.3.2 Use survey responses to develop action plan HoS Q4 18/19 

1.3.3 Develop staff recognition scheme HoS Q3/4 18/19 

2.0 Our Partnerships 

2.1 Improve multi-agency engagement at high risk and decision making meetings 

2.1.1 Secure the attendance of key agencies at high risk panels through: DCSs ensuring there is a named officer 
responsible in within ChSC 

DCSs Q2 18/19 

2.1.2 Secure the attendance of key agencies at high risk panels through: Regular reporting of agency attendance/non 
attendance to management board 

DCS/HoS Q4 18/19 

2.2 Ensuring young people’s mental health needs are met 

2.2.1 Arrange events in each area to raise awareness of E&MH services available, referral criteria and processes Train’g Lead Q3 18/19 

2.2.2 Agree a minimum common core role for mental health workers within WMYJS Health Lead Q3 18/19 

2.2.3 Refresh or replace WMYJS/CAMHS protocols in each area Health Lead Q4 18/19 

2.2.4 Commission training for practitioners on supporting young people with emotional and mental health issues Train’g Lead Q3 18/19 

 
 
 



 

WEST MERCIA YOUTH JUSTICE PLAN 2018/19 
 

16 

Ref Action Owner     Timescale  
2.3  Review and improve policy and practice in relation to out of court disposal decision making thereby contributing to a reduction in the number 
of first time entrants 
2.3.1 Business case to be prepared for new out of court decision making system which brings more decisions into the 

scope of the process 
HoS Q2 18/19 

2.3.2 Agree new OoCD process jointly with West Mercia Police Head of CJ Q3 18/19 

2.3.3 Develop and agree a new screening tool/assessment for decision making panel process HoS Q2 18/19 

2.3.4 Review the recording of Community Resolutions on ChildView B.S.  Admin Q2 18/19 

3.0 Our Performance, Quality and Practice 

3.1 Develop our quality assurance and performance framework in collaboration with our partners 
3.1.1 Development of a new performance and quality assurance framework to include: role of SPs in cross service QA 

and learning reviews, role of management board members in practice oversight and ETE monitoring and reporting. 
PQA Lead Q4 18/19 

3.1.2 Review of A+ QA tool to ensure it addresses assessment/planning deficits indentified in the pilot inspection A+ & PQA Leads Q3 18/19 

3.1.3 West Mercia Police to develop a mechanism and a process to ensure WMYJS Police Officers are notified when new 
information emerges on young people on YJS caseloads 

Head of CJ Q3 18/19 

3.1  Ensure adequate interface with Children Services information systems 

3.2.1 LAs to nominate a lead officer DCSs Q2 18/19 

3.2.2 LAs to explore the solutions to and implement WMYJS practitioners access to the Social Care information systems. DCSs Q2/4 18/19 

3.2.3 Agreements to be put in place in each area in relation to WMYJS staff accessing children social care systems DCSs Q4 18/19 

3.2 Develop our practice and encourage innovation   

3.3.1 Implementation of trauma informed interventions Prog Lead Q4 18/19 

3.3.2 Review remand management strategy Court Lead Q1 19/20 

3.3.3 Develop a resettlement framework Court Lead Q1 19/20 

3.3.4 Further develop the work of the attendance centres TM – S Wide Q4 18/19 

3.3.5 Review AIM2 arrangements  Q3 18/19 

3.3.6 Commission VSS RJ Co-ordinator to assist in developing the service strategy for victim work and RJ RJ Lead Q1 18/19 

4.0 Our Governance 

4.1 Communicate our vision and priorities to our staff, partners and stakeholders 

4.1.1 Alternative draft vision statements and underpinning values to be developed MB Chair Q1 18/19 

4.1.2 Staff consultation on draft vision statements HoS Q2 18/19 

4.1.3 Management Board agreement of vision and underpinning values for 2018/20 MB Chair Q2 18/19 

4.1.4 Development of a service communication plan HoS Q4 18/19 

4.1.5 Develop a WMYJS website HoS Q2 19/20 

 



 

WEST MERCIA YOUTH JUSTICE PLAN 2018/19 
 

17 

 
Ref Action Owner     Timescale  
4.2  Develop Board Member links to WMYJS to support service development and improve engagement with staff and service users 
4.2.1 Agree role of management board members as leads for priorities or key areas of work  Chair MB Q3 18/19 

4.2.2 Agree role of management board members in oversight of practice within QA framework  PQA Lead Q4 18/19 

4.3 Anticipate and mitigate future risks to the long term delivery of our vision 

4.3.1 Risks to be a standing MB agenda item Chair MB Q1 onwards 

4.3.2 Management Board to maintain risk register Chair MB Q1 onwards 



 

WEST MERCIA YOUTH JUSTICE PLAN 2018/19 
 

18 

Appendix 1 
 
West Mercia Youth Justice Service 
Resources 2018/19 
 
Income 

The Youth Offending Service has a complex budget structure comprising of partner agency cash, seconded staff and in kind 
contributions and the Youth Justice (YOT) Grant from the Youth Justice Board for England and Wales. The table below outlines the 
agreed contributions for 2017/18.    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The grant to run the Attendance Centres, £50,519, is included in the total for the YJB Youth Justice Grant in the table above 

 

 

                                                 
1 Where YOTs cover more than one local authority area YJB Youth Justice Plan guidance requires the totality of local authority contributions to be described as a single figure. 

Agency Staffing 
costs 

Secondees 

(£) 

Payments in 
kind – revenue 
(£) 

Other 
delegated 
funds (£) 

Total (£) 

Local Authorities1    1,228,499 1,228,499 

Police Service 237,892  63,000 300,892 

National Probation Service 63,033  15,000 78,033 

Health Service 129,860  36,894 166,754 

Police and Crime 
Commissioner  

 
180,293 180,293 

YJB Youth Justice (YOT) 
Grant  

 
1,195,802 1,195,802 

Total 430,785  2,719,488 3,150,273 



 

WEST MERCIA YOUTH JUSTICE PLAN 2018/19 
 

19 

The YJB Youth Justice (YOT) Grant 

 

The YJB Youth Justice (YOT) Grant is provided for the provision of youth justice services with an aim of achieving the following 
outcomes; reducing re-offending, reducing first time entrants, reducing the use of custody, effective public protection and effective 
safeguarding. The grant will form part of the overall pooled partnership budget for WMYJS, which is used to deliver and support 
youth justice services across West Mercia. The outline draft budget for 2018/19 is provided below; the expenditure against the 
Youth Justice Grant is included in this budget. 

 

Category Budget 

(£) 

Employee Costs 2,012,840 

Other Employee Costs 30,000 

Premises 175,299 

Supplies and Services 67,279 

ICT 106,974 

Third Party Payments 220,109 

Transport 106,987 

TOTAL 2,719,488 

 

  

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 



 

WEST MERCIA YOUTH JUSTICE PLAN 2018/19 
 

20 

Appendix 2 
 
West Mercia Youth Justice Service 
Structure and Staffing Information 
 
The West Mercia Youth Justice Service comprises four multi-agency service delivery teams, aligned to the Local Authority areas to 
deliver the majority of services. The reparation service and volunteer services are co-ordinated centrally across the whole service, 
as are the finance and data and information functions. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
WMYJS is compliant with the minimum staffing requirements outlined in the Crime and Disorder Act 1998, as can be seen from the 
structural diagram above. There are four HCPC registered Social Workers within the staffing group. 



 

WEST MERCIA YOUTH JUSTICE PLAN 2018/19 
 

21 

Appendix 3 

 
West Mercia Youth Justice Service 
Governance and Partnership Information 
 
Governance   
 
WMYJS is managed on behalf of the Local Authorities and the WMYJS partnership by the Office of the West Mercia Police and 
Crime Commissioner (OPCC). Day to day management of the Head of Service is provided by jointly the Chief Executive of the 
OPCC and the Chair of the Management Board (DCS Shropshire). The Youth Justice Service is accountable to the WMYJS 
Management Board and the Management Board is accountable to each of the Local Authorities for the commissioning and delivery 
of youth justice services. 
 
The partnership Youth Justice Plan is approved by the Management Board and by each of the four top tier Councils. The diagram 
below outlines the governance arrangements of West Mercia Youth Justice Service. 

 
 



 

WEST MERCIA YOUTH JUSTICE PLAN 2018/19 
 

22 

The Youth Justice Service Management Board is currently chaired by the Director of Children Services for Shropshire Council. The 
Membership of the Board at 1st April 2018 is outlined in the table below: 
 

Agency Representative Role 

Worcestershire County 
Council 

Catherine Driscoll Director of Children, Families and 
Communities 
 

Shropshire Council Karen Bradshaw Director of Children Services 

Telford and Wrekin 
Council 

Clive Jones Director of Children, Family and 
Adult Services 

Herefordshire Council Chris Baird Director of Children’s Wellbeing 

National Probation Service Jackie Stevenson Head of West Mercia 

West Mercia Police Dawn Hartland Head of Criminal Justice 

West Mercia Clinical 
Commissioning Groups 

Dawn Clarke Director of Nursing, Quality and 
Patient Experience, Shropshire 
CCG 

Office for the West Mercia 
Police and Crime 
Commissioner 

Andy Champness   Chief Executive 

 
The Management Board meets every two months and monitors the performance and quality of the service through regular 
reporting. Where necessary the Management Board will monitor compliance with the YJB Grant conditions through exception 
reports. There is an agreed process of reporting community safeguarding and public protection incident reviews into the 
Management Board and the Board monitors the progress of critical learning review action plans as a standard agenda item. The 
Management Board is supporting a process of continuing to commissioning learning reviews for incidents which previously qualified 
for CSPPI notification now that notifications to the YJB have been ended.  
 
The Management Board has a schedule of thematic deep dives and practice presentations, the purpose of which is to identify any 
issues, in particular with regards to provision of services and multi-agency working, and agree actions for the Management Board 
or individual board members in order to improve services for young people in the youth justice system. 
 
Management Board members ensure that, where relevant, commissioning across partner agencies takes account of the needs of 
young people in or at risk of entering the youth justice system, and where appropriate explore joint commissioning arrangements.  
 



 

WEST MERCIA YOUTH JUSTICE PLAN 2018/19 
 

23 

 

Partnerships 
 
The Youth Justice Service only has one outsourced service, the provision of Appropriate Adults for young people in Police custody. 
The service is provided by a local voluntary sector organisation YSS.   
 
WMYJS is a member of the four Safeguarding Children Boards and several of the board’s sub groups and the Children’s Trusts or 
equivalent partnerships. WMYJS is represented on the Crime and Disorder reduction partnerships at the unitary or top tier authority 
level. WMYJS is an active member of the West Mercia Criminal Justice Board, the West Mercia Crime Reduction Board, the West 
Mercia Victim and Witness Board and the MAPPA Strategic Management Board. 
 
WMYJS is represented on the Channel Panels across West Mercia established as part of the Prevent strategy. WMYJS staff have 
undertaken WRAP training in most areas.  The service are participant members of the area reducing re-offending groups and the 
Serious and Organised Crime Joint Agency Groups. 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

WEST MERCIA YOUTH JUSTICE PLAN 2018/19 
 

24 

APPENDIX 4 - AREA PROFILE – HEREFORDSHIRE 
  
Youth Offending Population – all Young People 
 
There are 16,101 young people aged 10 to 17 in Herefordshire. In 2017/18, according to the Youth Justice Service records, there 
were 156 youth justice sanctions (youth cautions, youth conditional cautions or convictions) made on Herefordshire young people. 
A total of 130 individual young people accounted for these 156 outcomes, 0.81% of the youth population.  

 
 
Of the 130 young people entering or in the youth justice system in 2017/18, 82% were male. The majority, 72%, were aged 15 to 17 
years. The peak age of offending for young males was 17 years and young females 16 years. 
 
Youth Offending Population –  Young People Subject to Out of Court Disposals 
 
During 2017/18 there were a total of 95 pre-court disposals made on 40 Herefordshire young people, 88 of these were Youth 
Cautions and 7 Youth Conditional Cautions. WMYJS is required to assess all young people made subject to second or subsequent 
Youth Cautions and all Youth Conditional Cautions and if assessed appropriate provide a programme of intervention, in 2017/18 
intervention programmes were provided for 15 pre-court disposals. 

Herefordshire offenders by age and gender

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

M
al
e1

1

Fem
al
e1

1

M
al
e1

2

M
al
e1

3

Fem
al
e1

3

M
al
e1

4

Fem
al
e1

4

M
al
e1

5

Fem
al
e1

5

M
al
e1

6

Fem
al
e1

6

M
al
e1

7

Fem
al
e1

7

Herefordshire offenders by age

12 (3%)

13 (8%)

14 (18%)

15 (18%)
16 (24%)

17 (29%)

Herefordshire offenders by gender

Female

18%

Male

82%



 

WEST MERCIA YOUTH JUSTICE PLAN 2018/19 
 

25 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The most frequently occurring primary offences for out of court disposals were drug offences, 37%, violence against person, 29%, 
and theft and handling, 17%. In the previous year the most frequently occurring offence was violence against the person accounting 
for 28% of primary offences, followed by drug offences 24%.    
 
Youth Offending Population – Young People Subject to Court Outcomes 

 
In 2017/18 a total of 90 Herefordshire young people accounted for 61 court 
outcomes. Orders requiring WMYJS interventions (Referral Orders, YROs and 
Custodial sentences) accounted for 40 of the 61 court outcomes.  
 
The majority, 84% of young people receiving court sentences were aged 15 to 
17, with 16 year olds accounting for 46% of young people receiving a court 
sentence.  
 
The most frequently occurring primary offences for court sentences were 
public order offences, accounting for 20% of all offences. Violence against the 
person and drug offences were the next frequently occurring offence type at 
13% for each, followed by theft and handling and arson at 11%.  
 

Herefordshire out of court disposals by offence type

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

Drugs

Theft A
nd Handling Stolen G

oods

Crim
inal D

amage

Arson

Racially Aggrava
ted

 

Herefordshire court disposals by offence type

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

P
ub

lic
 O

rd
er

V
io

le
nc

e 
Agai

ns
t T

he
 P

ers
on

D
ru

gs

The
ft 

A
nd

 H
an

dl
in

g S
to

le
n 

G
oo

ds

A
rs

on

B
re

ach
 O

f S
ta

tu
to

ry
 O

rd
er

D
om

est
ic
 B

ur
gl

ar
y

Fra
ud

 A
nd 

Forg
er

y

C
rim

in
al

 D
am

ag
e

N
on 

D
om

es
tic

 B
ur

gl
ar

y



 

WEST MERCIA YOUTH JUSTICE PLAN 2018/19 
 

26 

Performance against the National Indicators 
 
(i) First Time Entrants 
 
The first time entrant measure is expressed as the number of first time entrants per 100,000 of 10 to 17 year old population. First 
time entrants are those young people receiving a first formal youth justice sanction (Youth Caution, Conditional Caution or 
Conviction). Good performance is indicted by a lower rate. 

 
In 2017 there were 447 first time entrants per 100,000 youth population 
in Herefordshire, representing a reduction of 34% since 2012. This 
compares with a reduction for England of 46% and for West Mercia of 
26% over the same period. The actual number of first time entrants in 
2017 was 72, compared to 86 in 2016. The rate of 447 is an 
improvement in performance on the previous year when the rate was 
529.   
 
At 447 Herefordshire has the highest rate of FTEs across West Mercia, 
the range in rates across the West Mercia authorities is 304 to 447.  The 
reduction of youth offending has been adopted as a priority by 
Herefordshire Community Safety Partnership, and some analysis of the 
FTE cohort is planned. During the recent pilot inspection of the youth 
justice service the inspection team formed the opinion that one reason 

for the higher than might be expected rate of FTE in West Mercia is the out of court decision making process. A business case is 
being developed to adapt the process to bring more young people into the scope of joint agency decision making. 
 
(ii) Use of Custody 
 
The use of custody measure is expressed as the number of custodial sentences per 1,000 of 10 to 17 year population, a lower rate 
indicates better performance. Herefordshire has, historically, had a low rate of custodial sentences.  There was 1 custodial 
sentence during 2017, equating to a rate of 0.06 custodial sentences per 1000 youth population this represents a reduction in 
custodial sentences from 2016 where there were 3 custodial sentences equating to a rate of 0.19. The 2017 rate of 0.06% 
compares to a West Mercia rate of 0.16 and a national rate of 0.39.   



 

WEST MERCIA YOUTH JUSTICE PLAN 2018/19 
 

27 

(iii) Re-Offending 
 
There are two re-offending measures, both measuring re-offending in the 
same cohort of offenders over a 12 month period following the youth justice 
sanction that placed the young person in the cohort. The first, the frequency 
measure, is the average number of re-offences per re-offender in the cohort. 
The second measure, the binary measure, is the percentage of the offenders 
in the cohort re-offending. In both cases a lower rate denotes better 
performance. The most recent data for the re-offending measure is for the 
year July 2015 to June 2016. This is the year where the cohort is identified, 
they are then followed for re-offending for a 12 month period, hence to June 
2017. 
 
The frequency measure performance for Herefordshire for the period is 3.47, 
compared to the West Mercia performance of 4.04 and national performance 
of 3.83. Herefordshire is, therefore, performing better than England and West 
Mercia as a whole. The performance has slightly improved from the previous 
year when it was 3.49.   
 
For the year July 2015 to June 2016 the binary measure for Herefordshire is  
43.0% compared with a West Mercia performance of 33.9% and a national 
performance of 41.9%. For the period, therefore, there were a greater 
proportion of the cohort re-offending than for West Mercia, but they were, on 
average, re-offending with less frequency. The performance of 43.0% 
represents an improvement on the performance for the previous period when 
it was 46.1%. It should also be noted, that the overall cohort sizes are 
decreasing year on year. In 2011/12 there were 255 offenders in the cohort 
and 344 re-offences and compared to a cohort size of 179 and 267 re-
offences in the 12 month period ending June 2016.    

  
Reducing youth offending has been adopted a priority for the Herefordshire Community Safety Partnership and a delivery plan is 
currently being developed. 



 

WEST MERCIA YOUTH JUSTICE PLAN 2018/19 
 

28 

APPENDIX 5 - AREA PROFILE – SHROPSHIRE 
 
Youth Offending Population – all Young People 
 
There are 27,663 young people aged 10 to 17 in Shropshire. In 2017/18, according to WMYJS records, there were 123 youth 
justice sanctions (youth cautions, youth conditional cautions or convictions) made on Shropshire young people. A total of 117 
individual young people accounted for these 123 outcomes, 0.42% of the youth population. 

 
Of the 117 young people entering or in the youth justice system in 2017/18, 81% were male. The majority, 77%, were aged 15 to 17 
years. The peak age of offending for young males was 17 years and young females15 years. 
 
Youth Offending Population – Young People Subject to Out of Court Disposals 
 
During 2017/18 there were a total of 69 pre-court disposals made on Shropshire young people, 58 Youth Cautions and 11 Youth 
Conditional Cautions. The youth justice service is required to assess all young people made subject to second or subsequent Youth 
Caution and all Youth Conditional Cautions and if assessed appropriate provide a programme of intervention, in 2017/18 
intervention programmes were provided for 30 pre-court disposals. 

Shropshire offenders by age and gender

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

M
al
e1

1

M
al
e1

2

Fem
al
e1

2

M
al
e1

3

Fem
al
e 

13

M
al
e1

4

Fem
al
e1

4

M
al
e1

5

Fem
al
e1

5

M
al
e1

6

Fem
al
e1

6

M
al
e1

7

Fem
al
e1

7



 

WEST MERCIA YOUTH JUSTICE PLAN 2018/19 
 

29 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The most frequently occurring primary offences for out of court disposals were violence against the person, 32%, followed by 
criminal damage, 22%, drug offences, 17%, and theft and handling 14%.   
 
Youth Offending Population –  Young People Subject to Court Outcomes 
 

In 2017/18 a total of 45 Shropshire young people accounted for 69 
court outcomes. Orders requiring WMYJS interventions (Referral 
Orders, YROs and Custodial sentences) accounted for 51 of the 69 
court outcomes.  
 
The majority, 85% of young people receiving court sentences were 
aged 15 to 17, with 17 year olds accounting for 43% of young 
people receiving a court sentence.  
 
The most frequently occurring offence for court sentences was 
violence against the person, accounting for 41% of all outcomes. 
Criminal damage was the next frequently occurring offence, 13%, 
followed by breach of a statutory order 9%. 

 



 

WEST MERCIA YOUTH JUSTICE PLAN 2018/19 
 

30 

Performance against National Indicators 
 
(i) First Time Entrants 
 
The first time entrant measure is expressed as the number of first time entrants per 100,000 of 10 to 17 year old population. First 
time entrants are those young people receiving a first formal youth justice sanction (a Youth Caution, Conditional Caution or 
Conviction). Good performance is indicted by a lower rate 
 

In 2017 there were 329 first time entrants per 100,000 youth 
population in Shropshire, representing a reduction of 23% since 
2012. This compares with a reduction for England of 46% and for 
West Mercia of 34% over the same period. It should be noted that 
the rates in 2012 for England and West Mercia were significantly 
higher than for Shropshire (552, 680 and 426 respectively). The 
actual number of first time entrants in 2017 is 91, compared to 128 
in 2012. 
 
At 329 Shropshire has the second lowest rate of FTEs across West 
Mercia, in the range of 304 to 447. The Shropshire rate is higher 
than the national rate, 295 but lower than the West Mercia rate of 
354. The 2017 rate of 329 represents deterioration of performance 
from the previous year when the rate was at 282.  
 

During the recent pilot inspection of the youth justice service the inspection team formed the opinion that one reason for the higher 
than might be expected rate of FTE in West Mercia is the out of court decision making process. A business case is being 
developed to adapt the process to bring more young people into the scope of joint agency decision making. 
 
(ii) Use of Custody 
 
The use of custody measure is expressed as the number of custodial sentences per 1,000 of 10 to 17 year population, a lower rate 
indicates better performance. Shropshire has, historically, had a low rate of custodial sentences.  
 



 

WEST MERCIA YOUTH JUSTICE PLAN 2018/19 
 

31 

There were 7 custodial sentences during 2017, equating to a rate of 0.25 custodial sentences per 1000 youth population this 
represents a decrease in custodial sentences from 2016 where there were 8 custodial sentences. The 2017 rate of 0.25 compares 
to a West Mercia rate of 0.16 and a national rate of 0.39. 
 
(iii) Re-Offending 
 

There are two re-offending measures, both measuring re-offending in the same 
cohort of offenders over a 12 month period following the youth justice sanction 
that placed the young person in the cohort. The first, the frequency measure, is 
the average number of re-offences per offender who re-offends in the cohort. 
The second measure, the binary measure, is the percentage of the offenders in 
the cohort re-offending. In both cases a lower rate denotes better performance. 
The most recent data for the re-offending measure is for the year July 2015 to 
June 2016. This is the year where the cohort is identified, they are then followed 
for re-offending for a 12 month period, hence to June 2017. 
 
The frequency measure performance for Shropshire for July 2015 to June 2016 

is 4.21, compared to the West Mercia performance of 4.04 and national 
performance of 3.82. Shropshire is, therefore, performing slightly worse than for 
West Mercia and for England and the performance represents a slight but not 
significant deterioration on the previous year when it was at 4.04. The general 
pattern of a rise follows both that of the West Mercia and national rates. The 
rises since 2014 are partly a result in changes in the methodology used by the 
Ministry of Justice to calculate this measure. 
 
For the period the binary measure for Shropshire is 35.0% which is in line with 
the West Mercia performance of 33.9% and significantly better than the national 
performance of 41.9%.  It should also be noted that the overall cohort sizes are 
decreasing year on year, in the current period there were 168 offenders in the 

cohort and 240 re-offences compared to a cohort size of 341 with 443 re-offences in period ending June 2012. The number of 
actual re-offences has therefore decreased by 46% between the two periods.  



 

WEST MERCIA YOUTH JUSTICE PLAN 2018/19 
 

32 

 APPENDIX 6 - AREA PROFILE – TELFORD AND WREKIN 
 
Youth Offending Population – all Young People 
 
There are 16,444 young people aged 10 to 17 in Telford and Wrekin. In 2017/18, according to WMYJS records, there were 135 
youth justice sanctions (youth cautions, youth conditional cautions or convictions) made on Telford and Wrekin young people. A 
total of 105 individual young people accounted for these 135 outcomes, 0.64% of the youth population. 

 
Of the 105 young people entering or in the youth justice system in 2017/18, 84% were male. The majority, 75%, were aged 15 to 17 
years. The peak age of offending for both young males and young females was17 years. 
 
Youth Offending Population –  Young People Subject to Out of Court Disposals 
 
During 2017/18 there were a total of 74 pre-court disposals made on 64 Telford and Wrekin young people, all of these were Youth 
Cautions.  WMYJS is required to assess all young people made subject to second or subsequent Youth Cautions and all Youth 
Conditional Cautions and if assessed appropriate provide a programme of intervention, in 2017/18 intervention programmes were 
provided for 28 pre-court disposals. 



 

WEST MERCIA YOUTH JUSTICE PLAN 2018/19 
 

33 

Telford and Wrekin out of court disposals by offence type

0

5

10

15

20

25

Vio
lence

 A
gainst t

he P
ers

on

Crim
in

al D
am

age

Theft 
and H

andlin
g

Posse
ss

ion o
f O

ffe
nsiv

e W
e...

Dru
gs

M
oto

rin
g

O
th

er

Dom
estic

 B
urg

la
ry

Non D
om

esti
c B

urg
la

ry

Public
 O

rd
er

 
 
The most frequently occurring primary offence for out of court disposals was violence against the person, 51%, followed by criminal 
damage, 15% and drug offences, 11%. 
 
Youth Offending Population –  Young People Subject to Court Outcomes 

 
In 2017/18 a total of 41 Telford and Wrekin young people accounted for 61 
court outcomes. Orders requiring WMYJS interventions (Referral Orders, 
YROs and Custodial sentences) accounted for 51 of the 61 court outcomes.  
 
The majority, 82% of young people receiving court sentences were aged 15 to 
17, with 17 year olds accounting for 41% of court outcomes.  
 
The most frequently occurring offence for court sentences was violence against 
the person, accounting for 31% of all outcomes. Arson was the next most 
frequently occurring offences, 10%, followed by criminal damage, 8% and theft 
and handling 8%. These four categories of offences accounted for 57% of all 
sentencing outcomes. 

 
 



 

WEST MERCIA YOUTH JUSTICE PLAN 2018/19 
 

34 

Performance against National Indicators 
 
(i) First Time Entrants 
 
The first time entrant measure is expressed as the number of first time entrants per 100,000 of 10 to 17 year old population. First 
time entrants are those young people receiving a first formal youth justice sanction (a Youth Caution, Conditional Caution or 
Conviction). Good performance is indicted by a lower rate. 

 
In 2017 there were 304 first time entrants per 100,000 youth population 
in Telford and Wrekin representing a reduction of 37% since 2012. This 
compares with a reduction for England of 46% and for West Mercia of 
26% over the same period. The actual number of first time entrants in 
2017 was 50, compared to 86 in 2012.   
 
At 304 Telford and Wrekin has the lowest rate of FTEs across West 
Mercia, the range of rates across West Mercia being 304 to 447, but 
slightly higher than the rate for England which was 295. The rate in 
Telford and Wrekin has decreased from the previous year when it was 
significantly higher at 478. The number of FTEs has reduced from 79 to 
50 between the two years, a decrease of 37%. 
 

During the recent pilot inspection of the youth justice service the inspection team formed the opinion that one reason for the higher 
than might be expected rate of FTE in West Mercia is the out of court decision making process. A business case is being 
developed to adapt the process to bring more young people into the scope of joint agency decision making.    
 
(ii) Use of Custody 
 
The use of custody measure is expressed as the number of custodial sentences per 1,000 of 10 to 17 year population, a lower rate 
indicates better performance. Telford and Wrekin has, historically, had a low rate of custodial sentences.  There were 5 custodial 
sentences during 2017, equating to a rate of 0.30 custodial sentences per 1000 youth population this represents a increase in 
custodial sentences from 2016 where there were 2 custodial sentences equating to a rate of 0.12. The 2017 rate of 0.30 compares 
to a West Mercia rate of 0.16 and a national rate of 0.39. 



 

WEST MERCIA YOUTH JUSTICE PLAN 2018/19 
 

35 

(iii) Re-Offending 
 
There are two re-offending measures, both measuring re-offending in the 
same cohort of offenders over a 12 month period following the youth justice 
sanction that placed the young person in the cohort. The first, the frequency 
measure, is the average number of re-offences per offender who re-offends 
in the cohort. The second measure, the binary measure, is the percentage 
of the offenders in the cohort re-offending. In both cases a lower rate 
denotes better performance. The most recent data for the re-offending 
measure is for cohort identified in the year July 2015 to June 2016. This is 
the year where the cohort is identified, they are then followed for re-
offending for a 12 month period, hence to June 2017. 
 
The frequency measure performance for Telford and Wrekin for period is 
6.22, compared to the West Mercia performance of 4.04 and national 
performance of 3.83.  The frequency measure of 6.22 represents a 
significant rise from the year ending June 2015 when it was 3.53. 
 
 
For the year ending June 2016 the binary measure for Telford and Wrekin is 
29.7% compared with a West Mercia performance of 33.9% and a national 
performance of 41.9%, Telford and Wrekin is therefore performing better 
than West Mercia and England. The current performance has significantly 
improved from the previous year where the performance was 38.6%. When 
the two measures are consider together, there are, proportionally, less 
young people re-offending in Telford than in West Mercia as a whole, 
however those who are re-offending are committing more offences. It 

should, however,  be noted the overall cohort sizes are decreasing year on year. In the year ending June 2010  there were 451 
offenders in the cohort and 531 re-offences compared to a cohort size of 182 with 336 re-offences in the current period. The 
number of actual re-offences have therefore decreased by 36% over the seven year period.  
 
  



 

WEST MERCIA YOUTH JUSTICE PLAN 2018/19 
 

36 

APPENDIX 7 - AREA PROFILE – WORCESTERSHIRE 
 
Youth Offending Population – all Young People 
  
There are 50,812 young people aged 10 to 17 in Worcestershire. In 2017/18, according to WMYJS records, there were 404 youth 
justice sanctions (youth cautions, youth conditional cautions or convictions) made on Worcestershire young people. A total of 349 
individual young people accounted for these 376 outcomes, 0.69% of the youth population. 

 

 
 
Of the 349 young people entering or in the youth justice system in 2017/18, 79% were male. The majority, 73%, were aged 15 to 17 
years. The peak age of offending for young males was 17 years and young females 15 years. 
 
Youth Offending Population –  Young People Subject to Out of Court Disposals 
 
During 2017/18 there were a total of 208 pre-court disposals made on 194 Worcestershire young people, 189 of these were Youth 
Cautions and 19 Youth Conditional Cautions.  WMYJS is required to assess all young people made subject to second or 
subsequent Youth Cautions and all Youth Conditional Cautions and if assessed appropriate provide a programme of intervention, in 
2017/18 intervention programmes were provided for 74 pre-court disposals. 



 

WEST MERCIA YOUTH JUSTICE PLAN 2018/19 
 

37 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The most frequently occurring primary offences for out of court disposals were violence against the person, 38%, followed by theft 
and handling, 17%, drug offences, 15% and criminal damage 12%.   
 
Youth Offending Population –  Young People Subject to Court Outcomes 

 
In 2017/18 a total of 155 Worcestershire young people accounted for 244 
court outcomes. Orders requiring WMYJS interventions (Referral Orders, 
YROs and Custodial sentences) accounted for 208 of the 244 court 
outcomes.  
 
The majority, 82% of young people receiving court sentences were aged 15 
to 17, with 17 year olds accounting for 43% of young people receiving a 
court sentence.  
 
The most frequently occurring primary offence for court sentences was 
violence against the person, accounting for 30% of all outcomes. Public 
order offences were the next frequently occurring offences, 14%, followed 
by criminal damage, 11%. 

 



 

WEST MERCIA YOUTH JUSTICE PLAN 2018/19 
 

38 

Performance against National Indicators 
 
(i) First Time Entrants 
 
The first time entrant measure is expressed as the number of first time entrants per 100,000 of 10 to 17 year old population. First 
time entrants are those young people receiving a first formal youth justice sanction (a Youth Caution, Conditional Caution or 
Conviction). Good performance is indicted by a lower rate. 
 

In 2017 there were 352 first time entrants per 100,000 youth population in 
Worcestershire, representing a reduction of 39% since 2012. This compares 
with a reduction for England of 46% and for West Mercia of 34% over the same 
period. The actual number of first time entrants in 2017 was 179, compared to 
313 in 2012. 
 
At 352 Worcestershire has the second highest rate of FTEs across West 
Mercia, with the highest rate at 447 and lowest at 304. The rate is higher than 
the national rate which is 295. The rate in Worcestershire has decreased from 
the previous year when it was 410. The number of FTEs has reduced from 209 
to 179 between the two years, a decrease of  14%.    
 
During the recent pilot inspection of the youth justice service the inspection 

team formed the opinion that one reason for the higher than might be expected rate of FTE in West Mercia is the out of court 
decision making process. A business case is being developed to adapt the process to bring more young people into the scope of 
joint agency decision making.  
 
(ii) Use of Custody 
 
The use of custody measure is expressed as the number of custodial sentences per 1,000 of 10 to 17 year population, a lower rate 
indicates better performance. There were 9 custodial sentences during 2017, equating to a rate of 0.17 custodial sentences per 
1000 youth population this represents a decrease in custodial sentences from 2016 where there were 16 custodial sentences 
equating to a rate of 0.31. The 2017 rate of 0.17% compares to the West Mercia rate of 0.16 and a national rate of 0.39. 
 



 

WEST MERCIA YOUTH JUSTICE PLAN 2018/19 
 

39 

 
(iii) Re-Offending 

 
There are two re-offending measures, both measuring re-offending in the 
same cohort of offenders over a 12 month period following the youth justice 
sanction that placed the young person in the cohort. The first, the frequency 
measure, is the average number of re-offences per offender who re-offends 
in the cohort. The second measure, the binary measure, is the percentage 
of the offenders in the cohort re-offending. In both cases a lower rate 
denotes better performance.  The most recent data for the re-offending 
measure is for cohort identified in the year July 2015 to June 2016. This is 
the year where the cohort is identified, they are then followed for re-
offending for a 12 month period, hence to June 2017. 
 
The frequency measure performance for Worcestershire for year ending 
June 2016 is 3.39, compared to the West Mercia performance of 4.04 and 
national performance of 3.83. Worcestershire has, therefore, a better 
performance than West Mercia and England for this measure.  The current 
performance is an improvement on the performance for the previous year 
where it was at 4.11.  
 
For year ending June 2016 the binary measure for Worcestershire is 31.3% 
compared with a West Mercia performance of 33.9% and a national 
performance of 41.9%. Worcestershire is therefore performing better than 
West Mercia and England for this indicator. It should also be noted that the 
overall cohort sizes are decreasing year on year. In the year ending June 
2012 there were 645 offenders in the cohort and 686 re-offences compared 

to a cohort size of 406 with 430 re-offences in the current period. The number of actual re-offences has therefore decreased by 
37% between 2012 and 2016.  
 
  





People Overview Committee

19 September 2018

Overview and Scrutiny Work Programme 2018 – 2019

Responsible officer
Tom Dodds, Statutory Scrutiny Officer
tom.dodds@shropshire.gov.uk
01743 258518

1.0 Summary

1.1 This paper presents Overview and Scrutiny’s proposed work programme for the 
year ahead. The committees have based their programmes on topics from 
Shropshire Council’s Strategic Action Plan. Committees will also 

 scrutinise thematic priorities
 respond to emerging issues and 
 follow up on previous work.

2.0 Recommendations

2.1 Committee members to: 
 confirm the proposed work programme attached as appendices 1 and 2
 suggest changes to the committee work programme and
 recommend other topics to consider

3.0 Background 

3.1 Overview and Scrutiny’s committees base this work programme on topics from 
Shropshire Council’s Strategic Action Plan. They also 

 scrutinise thematic priorities
 respond to emerging issues
 follow up on previous work
 carry out cross-committee work through task and finish groups.

3.2 The current work programme is attached as appendix 1.

3.3 The overview and scrutiny committees have made several recent changes to their 
work programmes:

 The Health and Social Care Scrutiny Committee has agreed to carry out a 
task and finish group review of transfers of care from the NHS to Shropshire 
Council.

mailto:tom.dodds@shropshire.gov.uk


 The Communities Overview Committee has agreed to delay its area 
committee task and finish group until the outcome of several key council 
decisions is known.

 The People Overview Committee has agreed to look at drug and alcohol 
support services for young people.

 The Place Overview Committee will be carrying out an annual review of 
highways winter service planning.

3.4 To carry out cross-committee work, or look at topics in more depth, overview and 
scrutiny committees set up task and finish groups. These groups consist of 
members drawn from overview and scrutiny committees, which meet outside of the 
usual scheduled committee meetings. These groups then report their findings and 
recommendations to overview and scrutiny committees for approval. The current list 
of ongoing task and finish group meetings is included in this report as appendix 2.

4.0 Next steps

4.1 Overview and scrutiny updates this report on an ongoing basis and presents it to 
each overview and scrutiny committee. This will allow members the opportunity to 
contribute to its development at each committee meeting.

List of Background Papers (This MUST be completed for all reports, but does not 
include items containing exempt or confidential information)
None

Cabinet Member (Portfolio Holder)
All

Local Member
All 

Appendices
Overview and scrutiny work programme

Overview and scrutiny task and finish groups



1

Appendix 1
Overview and Scrutiny work programme 2018 to 2019

Performance Management Scrutiny Committee

Topic Intended outcomes or objectives What output is 
required?

Who needs to 
be heard from?

Expected impact or added 
value

Work 
date

Report of 
Welfare 
Reform Task 
and Finish 
Group

 Consider the report and 
recommendations of the Welfare Reform 
Task and Finish Group.

task and finish 
group report

task and finish 
group chair

Ensure effective 
arrangements Support 
people in receipt of welfare 
support and preventative 
services.

12 Sep 
2018

Corporate 
Peer 
Challenge 
Report and 
Action Plan.

 Identify the priorities for action emerging 
from the recent corporate peer challenge.

 Scrutinise the council’s progress in 
implementing the report action plan.

corporate peer 
challenge report 
and action plan 
and progress 
report 

Chief Executive Shropshire Council is 
making good progress in 
implementing the peer 
challenge action plan.

12 Sep 
2018

Report of the 
Budget and 
Investment 
and Income 
Task and 
Finish Group

 Consider the budget proposals and 
identify the priority areas for further 
consideration

 Identify any likely impacts of the budget 
proposals and explore how these will be 
managed with the relevant officers and 
Portfolio Holders.

 Scrutinise investment and income 
proposals

task and finish 
group report

Group Chair

Head of 
Finance, 
Governance & 
Assurance

Proposals for investment 
and income generation are 
sound.

12 Sep 
2018



2

Performance Management Scrutiny Committee

Topic Intended outcomes or objectives What output is 
required?

Who needs to 
be heard from?

Expected impact or added 
value

Work 
date

Q1 2018/19 
Performance 
Report

 Consider the key underlying and 
emerging performance issues. 

 Identify any performance areas that they 
would like to consider in greater detail or 
refer to the appropriate overview and 
scrutiny committee.

Cabinet 
performance 
report

Information, 
Intelligence and 
Insight Manager

Committee develops its 
insight into council 
performance, and focuses 
its work on relevant 
performance issues.

12 Sep 
2018

Complaints, 
Compliments 
and 
Comments

 Understand the nature of complaints, 
compliments and comments that the 
council receives.

 Scrutinise how the council uses these 
Improve its services.

Analysis of 
complaints, 
compliments and 
comments 
received

Information, 
Intelligence and 
Insight Manager

Ensure that the council 
responds appropriately to 
complaints, compliments 
and comments, and uses 
them effectively Improve 
services.

12 Sep 
2018

Corporate 
Peer 
Challenge 
Report and 
Action Plan 
– exception 
report

 Scrutinise progress against the action 
plan.

 Identify areas for development and make 
recommendations for improvement.

action plan 
update report

Chief Executive Assurance that the council 
is making progress in 
developing its action plan.

14 Nov 
2018



3

Performance Management Scrutiny Committee

Topic Intended outcomes or objectives What output is 
required?

Who needs to 
be heard from?

Expected impact or added 
value

Work 
date

Q2 2018/19 
Performance 
Report

 Consider the key underlying and 
emerging performance issues. 

 Identify any performance areas that they 
would like to consider in greater detail or 
refer to the appropriate overview and 
scrutiny committee.

Cabinet 
performance 
report

Information, 
Intelligence and 
Insight Manager

Committee develops its 
insight into council 
performance, and focuses 
its work on relevant 
performance issues.

14 Nov 
2018

Corporate 
Peer 
Challenge 
Report and 
Action Plan 
– exception 
report

 Scrutinise progress against the action 
plan.

 Identify areas for development and make 
recommendations for improvement.

action plan 
update report

Chief Executive Assurance that the council 
is making progress in 
developing its action plan.

6 Mar 
2019

Q3 2018/19 
Performance 
Report

 Consider the key underlying and 
emerging performance issues. 

 Identify any performance areas that they 
would like to consider in greater detail or 
refer to the appropriate overview and 
scrutiny committee.

Cabinet 
performance 
report

Information, 
Intelligence and 
Insight Manager

Committee develops its 
insight into council 
performance, and focuses 
its work on relevant 
performance issues.

6 Mar 
2019



4

Performance Management Scrutiny Committee

Topic Intended outcomes or objectives What output is 
required?

Who needs to 
be heard from?

Expected impact or added 
value

Work 
date

Update of 
roadworks 
and street 
works task 
and finish 
group.

 To scrutinise progress against the 
recommendations of the roadworks and 
street works task and finish group

Committee report Highways, 
Transport and 
Environment 
Commissioning 
Manager

Greater public satisfaction 
with the process of carrying 
out roadworks and street 
works.

May 
2019



5

Communities Overview Committee

Topic Intended outcomes or objectives What output is 
required?

Who needs to 
be heard from?

Expected impact or added 
value

Work 
date

Burial space  Understand the demand for burial 
space in Shropshire, the council’s 
obligations to provide burial space, and 
its proposals for future provision.

committee 
overview report

presentation to 
committee

TBA Shropshire Council provides 
appropriate space for 
burials.

10 Sep 
2018

Emergency 
Planning

 Scrutinise Shropshire Council’s 
arrangements for emergency planning.

committee 
overview report

presentation to 
committee

Emergency 
Planning 
Manager

Ensure that Shropshire 
Council:
 identifies the right 

priorities for its 
emergency planning

 has in place suitable 
mitigation and

 carries out appropriate 
training and awareness 
raising.

26 Nov 
2018

Community 
Safety 
Strategy

 Understand the updated community 
safety strategy

 Scrutinise the research underpinning 
any changes to the strategy.

committee 
overview report

presentation to 
committee

Community 
Safety Manager

Assurance that the 
Community Safety Strategy 
identifies the right priorities 
for its work. 

28 Jan 
2019



6

Communities Overview Committee

Topic Intended outcomes or objectives What output is 
required?

Who needs to 
be heard from?

Expected impact or added 
value

Work 
date

Community 
Hubs

 Consider the development of plans for 
the creation of five community hubs.

 Ensure that the proposals will meet any 
needs resulting from social prescribing.

topic briefing 
note

committee 
overview report

presentation to 
committee

TBA Ensure that community 
hubs effectively meet the 
needs of Shropshire people.

18 
March 
2019

Burial capacity  To receive an update on work to secure 
adequate burial space in Shropshire

committee 
overview report

TBA Ensure adequate burial 
space in Shropshire

Sep
2019



7

Health and Social Care Scrutiny Committee

Topic Intended outcomes or objectives What output is 
required?

Who needs to 
be heard from?

Expected impact or 
added value

Work date

Public health 
budget and 
service 
provision

 Scrutinise future funding proposals.
 Understand current commissioning for 

falls reductions and other muscular-
skeletal traumas.

 Examine how the local authorities 
uses tele health care.

committee 
overview report

presentation to 
committee

Director, Adult 
Services

24 Sep 
2018

Winter 
planning

 Scrutinise proposals to mitigate the 
effect of winter pressures on NHS 
services.

committee 
overview report

presentation to 
committee

Shropshire 
Clinical 
Commissioning 
Group

24 Sep 
2018

111 
commissioning

 Examine the plans and arrangements 
for the provision of the service 
including proposed changes, benefits 
and impacts.

24 Sep
2018

Delayed 
transfers of 
care

 Revisit progress with reducing 
delayed transfers of care.

 Understand the impact of projects.
 Understand the impact of winter 

pressures on delays.
 Scrutinise readmission rates.
 Scrutinise how care packages for 

people who have had a stroke are put 
into place.

committee 
overview report

presentation to 
committee

Chief Executive, 
Shrewsbury and 
Telford Hospital 
NHS Trust

To agree a course of action 
to build on local authority 
success in reducing delays.

19 Nov 
2018



8

Ambulance 
services

 Understand how the service handles 
the most serious calls and the 
service’s heaviest users.

 Scrutinise how the service uses 
response times to deliver an effective 
service.

 Provide feedback on a planned visit to 
the West Midlands Ambulance 
Service 

Map of public 
defibrillators in 
Shropshire

Shropshire 
Clinical 
Commissioning 
Group
 

19 Nov 
2018

Smoking 
cessation 
services

 Understand existing smoking 
cessation services

 Scrutinise proposals for service 
change.

committee 
overview report

presentation to 
committee

Director of 
Public Health

19 Nov 
2018

Care Closer to 
Home

committee 
overview report

presentation to 
committee

Director, Adult 
Services

21 Jan 
2019

Future Fit 
consultation 
findings

 Consider the findings of consultations 
on Future Fit reconfiguration of NHS 
services in Shropshire, including 
Telford and Wrekin.

 Scrutinise the response to 
consultation findings.

Consultation 
findings

committee 
overview report

presentation to 
committee

Chief Executive, 
Shrewsbury and 
Telford Hospital 
NHS Trust

Assurance that the 
consultation has been 
carried out thoroughly, and 
its findings acted upon 
appropriately.

21 Jan 
2019



9

Better Care 
and Improved 
Better Care 
funds

 Consider the Improved Better Care 
Fund and its implications for 
Shropshire people. 

 Understand the outcomes of the fund 
and whether these have been 
achieved.

committee 
overview report

presentation to 
committee

Director, Adult 
Services

May 2019



10

People Overview Committee

Topic Intended outcomes or objectives What output is 
required?

Who needs to 
be heard from?

Expected impact or 
added value

Work date

Youth 
Offending 
Service

 Scrutinise the findings of the pilot Full 
Joint Inspection of the Youth Offending 
Service.

 To understand the causes of youth 
offending in Shropshire.

Final inspection 
report

Youth Offending 
Service

Recommendations Support 
the development of the 
service.

19 Sep 
2018

Corporate 
parenting

 Receive an update on recent work to 
strengthen corporate parenting 
arrangements.

 Make recommendations to further 
strengthen corporate parenting.

overview report

presentation

Portfolio Holder, 
Children and 
Young People

Recommendations Support 
the development of the 
service.

19 Sep 
2018

Education 
attainment

 Scrutinise education attainment in 
Shropshire over recent years 

 Identify any specific patterns or 
changes which need to be looked at in 
detail.

overview report

presentation

Director, 
Children’s 
Services

Ensure that Shropshire 
Council is targeting support 
where needed to improve 
education attainment.

21 Nov 
2018



11

People Overview Committee

Topic Intended outcomes or objectives What output is 
required?

Who needs to 
be heard from?

Expected impact or 
added value

Work date

Shropshire 
Safeguarding 
Children 
Board Annual 
Report

 Provide an overview of the 
Safeguarding Children Board’s work 
during the previous year.

 Scrutinise changes to governance 
arrangements for the Safeguarding 
Children Board and Safeguarding 
Adults Board.

Shropshire 
Safeguarding 
Children Board 
Annual Report

Independent 
Chair, 
Safeguarding 
Children Board

Contribute to developing 
governance arrangements 
for safeguarding in 
Shropshire.

21 Nov 
2018

SEND peer 
review

 Scrutinise any actions from the 
proposed peer review of services for 
children and young people with special 
educational needs.

Peer review 
findings and 
action plan

Presentation

Director, 
Children’s 
Services

Ensure the service’s 
actions plans address the 
recommendations of the 
peer review.

30 Jan 
2019

Progress and 
impact of the 
delivery of 
the Ofsted 
Action Plan

 Scrutinise progress with the 
implementation of the Ofsted Action 
Plan and the benefits realised for 
children, young people and families in 
Shropshire.

overview report Director, 
Children’s 
Services

Provide assurance that the 
council is making good 
progress in implementing 
its action plan, delivering 
the required improvements.

30 Jan 
2019



12

People Overview Committee

Topic Intended outcomes or objectives What output is 
required?

Who needs to 
be heard from?

Expected impact or 
added value

Work date

Employment 
and 
progression 
opportunities 

Scrutinise current arrangements for 
people to enter into work and progression 
including apprenticeships and skills 
training. To include:
 apprenticeships and skills training 
 young people’s aspiration and 

progression, and how to retain young 
people in the county

 older people in the workforce, 
including re-skilling and retired workers 
(post 50 workforce) mentoring, 
coaching 

 Access to apprenticeships for school 
staff.

overview report

presentations

TBA 30 Jan
2019

Opportunities 
for Looked 
After Children  
and care 
leavers to 
achieve their 
potential

 Scrutiny of the implementation of the 
Looked After Children Plan and the 
delivery of improved outcomes.

 Examine the availability and uptake of 
apprenticeships and employment, and 
housing support, and consider the 
benefits and impact.

Updated Looked 
After Children 
Plan

overview report

presentation

Director, 
Children’s 
Services

Assurance that Shropshire 
Council is delivering better 
outcomes for looked after 
children and care leavers.

27 Mar 
2019



13

People Overview Committee

Topic Intended outcomes or objectives What output is 
required?

Who needs to 
be heard from?

Expected impact or 
added value

Work date

School 
improvement

 Scrutinise the impact of changes 
Shropshire Council’s education 
improvement service.

overview report

presentation

Director, 
Children’s 
Services

Monitor the impacts of 
changes to the service and 
make any 
recommendations for 
change.

27 Mar 
2019

Drug and 
alcohol 
services for 
young people

 Scrutinise the provision of drug and 
alcohol support services for young 
people

May 2019

Children’s 
services 
performance 
dashboard

 Scrutinise safeguarding and early help 
performance. 

 Identify any specific patterns or 
changes which need to be looked at in 
detail.

overview report

presentation

Director, 
Children’s 
Services

Ensure that Shropshire 
Council is targeting support 
where needed to improve 
safeguarding.

May 2019



14

Place Overview Committee

Topic Intended outcomes or objectives What output is 
required?

Who needs to be 
heard from?

Expected impact or 
added value

Work 
date

Place shaping – 
balancing 
housing and 
economic 
growth

 Consider how housing 
development and economic growth 
activity are considered together 

Report Include:
 Infrastructure
 Type and 

availability of 
housing across 
the county.

Head of Economic 
Growth

Ensure that the right 
homes are built in the 
right places for the 
workforce for current and 
future employers.

6 Sep 
2018

Apprenticeships 
and 

 To receive an update on work to 
maximise the benefit of the 
Apprenticeships Levy

Overview report

Presentation

Chair of 
apprenticeships 
board

6 Sep 
2018

Skills training  To understand how skills training 
providers are responding to 
Shropshire’s priorities for skills.

Overview report

Presentation

Chair of business 
board

8 Nov
2018

Securing 
Investment in 
Shropshire

 To receive an update on how the 
council secures investment In 
Shropshire

Overview report

Presentation

Head of Economic 
Growth

8 Nov 
2018



15

Place Overview Committee

Topic Intended outcomes or objectives What output is 
required?

Who needs to be 
heard from?

Expected impact or 
added value

Work 
date

Place shaping – 
households and 
accessible 
green space

 Understand the value of accessible 
natural green space for health and 
wellbeing, how access could be 
maximised, and look at current 
patterns of availability. 

overview report

presentation

map of current 
and proposed 
accessible green 
space in towns 
and villages

Development of open 
spaces that improve the 
liveability of towns and 
villages

Ensure that open spaces 
maximise the opportunity 
for people Improve their 
health and wellbeing.

8 Nov 
2018

Street works 
enforcement 
policy

 To contribute to the development of 
the draft streetworks enforcement 
policy

overview report

presentation

Highways, 
Transport and 
Environment 
Commissioning 
Manager

Streetworks are carried 
out effectively and safely

8 Nov 
2018

Place shaping – 
maintaining a 
clean and 
attractive space

 Consider the development of the 
new Local Transport Plan and how 
it relates to the delivery of the 
Council’s priorities.

overview report

presentation

Head of 
Commissioning

Contribute to 
development of Local 
Transport Plan.

Provide assurance that 
the plan contributes to 
housing and economic 
growth plans

31 Jan 
2019



16

Place Overview Committee

Topic Intended outcomes or objectives What output is 
required?

Who needs to be 
heard from?

Expected impact or 
added value

Work 
date

Local economic 
strategies

 Scrutinise draft local economic 
growth strategies

overview report

presentation

site visit

Head of Economic 
Growth

31 Jan 
2019

Place shaping – 
diversification 
of the local 
economy

 Scrutinise progress with the 
delivery of the Council’s Economic 
Growth Strategy, with particular 
focus on keys sectors, higher 
added value businesses, numbers 
of new jobs created, and new 
companies Shropshire in the key 
target sectors. 

 Consider progress in securing 
investment in the digital and health 
care sector.

overview report

presentation

Head of Economic 
Growth

Ensure that housing, 
transport and built 
environment strategies 
effectively support 
economic growth.

Provide assurance that 
the Economic Growth 
Strategy is delivering 
economic benefits.

28 March 
2019

Highways 
winter service 
plan

 Understand the lesson learned 
from the previous winter 
maintenance plan. 

 Scrutinise planning for the winter 
period 2019-2020.

overview report

presentation

Highways, 
Transport and 
Environment 
Commissioning 
Manager

Contribute to 
development of a winter 
service plan that ensure 
safe highways and 
protects vulnerable 
people.

Jul 2019



17

Place Overview Committee

Topic Intended outcomes or objectives What output is 
required?

Who needs to be 
heard from?

Expected impact or 
added value

Work 
date

Local Plan and 
place plans

 Consider the revised Local Plan.
 Scrutinise local place plans.

report Include 
overview of Local 
Plan and key 
changes to 
existing plan, 
including Green 
belt review

Head of Economic 
Growth

Assurance that the Local 
Plan support housing, 
transport and economic 
growth priorities.

Jul 2019



18

Appendix 2
Current and proposed task and finish groups

Title Objectives Next reporting
Welfare reform  To ensure that the council’s own systems and processes are optimised 

so it provides the best advice and temporary support to people who 
need it.

 To understand how the council works with its partners to agree a 
common strategy Support people in greatest need.

 To ensure that council resources are deployed wherever possible 
Support people into education, employment and training.

Performance 
Management Scrutiny 
Committee 
12 September 2018

Roadworks and street works Scrutinise how Shropshire Council:
 has carried out recent major roads work and street works in 

Shrewsbury
 plans work to deliver SITP and other major road works Minimise 

disruption
 publicises planned road works to residents and businesses
 co-ordinates scheduled street works with utility companies and private 

developers and
 mitigates against and compensates for disruption to local businesses.

Cabinet
5 September 2018

Placements for looked after 
children

 Understand the profile of looked after children in Shropshire, and gain 
insight into the needs of the most complex children that we look after.

 Learn about the private residential care market, and challenges the 
council faces when purchasing private residential care.

 Understand the proposed model of residential care for Shropshire 
Council’s most complex looked-after children. 

 Scrutinise these proposals to ensure that they are right solution for our 
looked after children.

Cabinet
5 September 2018



19

Title Objectives Next reporting
Reducing admissions through 
warmer homes

 Understand how warmer homes reduce hospital admissions and 
demand for social care support

 Scrutinise the effectiveness of Keep Shropshire Warm
 Scrutinise the role of registered social landlords in keeping homes 

warm
 Understand how warmer homes are reducing delayed transfers of care
 Explore the links between work to reduce falls and warmer homes

Health and Social 
Care Scrutiny 
Committee 
19 November 2018

Community Transport  To understand how community transport operates in Shropshire, and 
the demand for community transport services.

 Identify how the community transport groups, the council, and other 
partners can work together to provide community transport to people in 
Shropshire who do not have access to public or private transport.

Communities 
Overview Committee
26 November 2018

Local Joint Committees  To review the current design and delivery of the LJCs and use the 
evidence gathered Make a recommendation on whether they should 
continue or not.

o If the recommendation is to continue, make further 
recommendations on the future design and delivery of the LJCs 

o If the recommendation is to cease, to design the withdrawal of 
the LJCs without undue impact on Shropshire Council members, 
town and parish councils, co-opted members or local residents. 

 To recommend how Shropshire Council should be working with 
partners, specifically town and parish councils to enable shared 
engagement, communications, accountability and governance within 
communities.

Communities 
Overview Committee 
Early 2019



20

Title Objectives Next reporting
Financial Strategy and Innovation 
and Income Generation 

 To understand the process and activity stages required to develop the 
Financial Strategy 2018/19 to 2020/21.

 To understand the factors contributing to the funding gaps including the 
additional pressures identified through the growth modelling exercise.

 To consider and scrutinise the proposals and emerging plans aligned 
to the four pillars of the approach that are being developed. 

 To consider the direct and indirect impacts of proposals on service 
delivery across the Council.

 To be able to complete specific pieces of work Identify and work up 
alternatives to emerging plans, including the feasibility of the 
alternative proposals.

 To provide a mechanism to engage with communities, partners and 
providers.

 To understand any possible risks and impacts on the Council’s 
finances and the ability to deliver a balanced budget in future years.

 Make evidence based recommendations and alternative proposals for 
future budget setting.

Performance 
Management Scrutiny 
Committee 
TBA

Road casualty reduction  Further analyse statistics on people killed or seriously injured on roads 
in Shropshire.

 Understand the causes of casualties.
 Identify existing and potential local authority and partnership policies 

that can contribute to road casualty reduction.

TBA


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	6 Youth Offending Service
	WMYJS YJP 18.19 V3.0

	8 Work Programme
	Work Programme


